1960

Rich County-Otter Creek Irrigation Co. et al v. Grant Lamborn, Howard L. Lamborn and Keith Jessop : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

--	----

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF UTAH

IN THE MATTER OF THE GEN-
ERAL DETERMINATION OF
ALL THE RIGHTS TO USE OF
WATER, BOTH SURFACE AND
UNDERGROUND, WITHIN THE
DRAINAGE AREA OF THE
BEAR RIVER IN RICH COUN-
TY, UTAH

RICH COUNTY - OTTER CREEK
IRRIGATION COMPANY, and
WILLIAM T. REX, RAYMOND
L. HOFFMAN, HENRY T. NICH-
OLLS, EMMA IRETA ARGYLE,
FRANK H. JACKSON and
ADEN W. THORNOCK,

Respondents.

— vs. —

GRANT LAMBORN, HOWARD L.
LAMBORN and KEITH JESSOP,

Appellants.

Case
No. 9285

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

This matter arises out of a general adjudication of the water rights on the Bear River in Rich County. The State Engineer proposed a decree awarding to Grant Lamborn, Howard Lamborn and Keith Jessop, the appel-

lants, water for 355 acres of land from the waters of Otter Creek. A protest to this allocation was filed by the Rich County-Otter Creek Irrigation Company and by the individual stockholders thereof, the respondents. The trial court awarded to appellants a primary water right for the 355 acres until June 1st, but after June 1st, the appellants were cut to only 180 acres. The appellants have appealed, because of this reduction. The respondents have cross-appealed, contending that appellants should have been cut down to a primary water right for 180 acres, even before June 1st.

THE FACTS

All of the parties hereto use water from Otter Creek in Rich County. The three appellants are the successors in interest to the ownership of a ranch which was owned by one James Jackson. (R. 227) The Rich County-Otter Creek Irrigation Company was organized in 1946. (R. 167) The stock in that company is owned by the individual respondents. Otter Creek has three branches: The North fork, the middle fork and the South fork. (R. 19, 80) All of the users except William T. Rex and the appellants divert their water below the confluence of these three forks. Much of the lands of William T. Rex are located along the North fork, and most of the water used by him is diverted from the North fork. (R. 123) The Jackson Ranch is located along the middle and South forks, above their confluence with the North fork. (R. 19, 20) The Jackson Ranch is so located that it can not divert water from the North fork. (R. 80)

Much of the land of the respondents which is located below the confluence of the three forks also has a water right from the Woodruff Canal. According to Mr. Lambert, Deputy State Engineer, the respondents, at the time of the State Engineer's survey, had a total of 1008.44 acres of irrigated land above the Woodruff Canal, and 1,178.19 acres located under and irrigated from the Woodruff Canal. (R. 98) Of this 1,008 acres above the canal, William T. Rex owned 700 and got his water mostly from the North fork. (R. 80, 123)

The State Engineer proposed a decree awarding to the Jackson Ranch a water right with a priority of 1870 from the middle and south forks to irrigate 355 acres. (Proposed Decree p. 159-61) The State Engineer also proposed to permit the Rich County-Otter Creek Irrigation Company, under thirteen specified claim numbers, to divert water for a total of 2,186 acres of land with a priority of 1875. (Proposed Decree, p. 157-8) The respondents objected to the proposal for the appellants, because the acreage proposed for the Jacksons (355 acres) was greater than that fixed by an earlier decree (180 acres). (This decree is referred to in the transcript as the Call Decree, and is Civil File No. 43, introduced as an exhibit.)

The acreage proposed by the State Engineer, both for the respondents and for the appellants, was greater than the acreage specified in this decree by Judge Call. The Judge Call Decree awarded a water right to the respondents for a total of 1,960 acres, and for the Jackson Ranch a total of 180 acres; the State Engineer proposed 2,186

acres for the respondents, and 355 acres for the appellants. (Proposed Decree p. 157-61)

The Call Decree expressly left one matter for future determination. It awarded to each of the parties water for specified acreage. It then decreed that the defendant Jackson was the owner of:

“... and entitled at all times during the irrigation season, to-wit, from April 1st to November 1st, each and every year, to divert and use from the flow of the waters of the south and middle forks of Otter Creek, in Rich County, State of Utah, a sufficient quantity of water for the irrigation of 180 acres of his land, the watering of stock and for domestic use *and in addition said defendant Richard Jackson is entitled to the seepage and underflow of all the water which drains into said Otter Creek by subirrigation, west of his land, in the proportion that 180 acres bears to the total of 2,140 acres.*” (P. 2 of Call Decree, Civil No. 43.) (Emphasis added)

The court then appointed one Joseph F. Neville, a civil engineer, to take measurements of the water:

“... in all branches of said Otter Creek, also to make computations of the volume of seepage and underflow by subirrigation, and to ascertain the total quantity of water available for irrigation in said Otter Creek Irrigation system, consisting of 2,160 acres for a basis of an equitable division among the plaintiffs and defendant Richard Jackson, as herein defined. . . .” (The decree was for 2,140 acres, and the 2,160 mentioned here in the decree would appear to be an error.)

The measurements contemplated by the decree to be made by Mr. Neville, to permit the stream to be adminis-

tered with due credit being given for return flow were never made. (R. 52) At the time of the Call Decree in 1919, the the court found that Richard Jackson was in fact irrigating 380 acres (Finding No. 8, Civil No. 43) and as noted, the Call decree cut this back to 180 acres, but “*in addition,*” it provided in the above quoted language for Mr. Jackson to receive his share of the return flow. The court obviously contemplated that this return flow would be studied by the engineer then appointed by the court, and that the decree would be administered accordingly, but the engineer did not follow through. (R. 52) The plaintiffs called witnesses who testified that the owners of the Jackson Ranch simply continued to irrigate the ranch as it had been irrigated prior to the Call Decree. (R. 21, 22, 36, 41, 61, 67) There was testimony both from witnesses called by the plaintiffs (R. 34) and from the respondents (R. 146) themselves to the effect that some acreage, about 25 to 30 acres (of the 380 acres being irrigated at the time of the Call Decree) were taken out of cultivation, but as will be pointed out in detail in the Argument, most of the respondents who were called as witnesses, admitted on cross-examination, that the Jacksons had continued to irrigate the 355 acres, and to mature hay crops thereon. (See, for example, pages 147, 171, 116, 129)

The surveys made by the State Engineer in connection with the General Adjudication suit also disclosed that 355 acres were being irrigated on the Jackson Ranch (R. 98-9), and Mr. Lambert, Deputy State Engineer, testified that at the time the surveys were made in 1946, the

meadows appeared to have been established irrigated meadows, as distinguished from newly reclaimed lands. (R. 99-100) The appellants thus contended that even though the Call Decree cut them back to 180 acres, it also had awarded them credit for the return flow and contemplated the appointment of an engineer to measure the return flow; (R. 87) that the engineer did not follow through (R. 52) and Jackson and his predecessors just kept using the water, during the ensuing nineteen years from 1920 through 1939, when water rights could be acquired by adverse use. *Wellsville East Field Irrigation Co. v. Lindsay Land & Livestock Co.*, 104 Utah 448, 137 P. 2d 634. The plaintiffs thus argued that they and their predecessors had established the right by adverse use to continue to use water for the 355 acres until they had made their hay crop about July 1st. The trial court accepted this argument from the beginning of the irrigation until the 1st of June each year, but held that after June 1st there had been an interruption, and the appellants were cut back to 180 acres after the 1st of June. It is from this conclusion that the plaintiffs have appealed.

ARGUMENT

The law in regard to the application of the doctrine of prescription, or adverse use, as applied to water rights, is discussed in detail by the court in *Wellsville East Field Irrigation Co. v. Lindsay Land & Livestock Co.*, *supra*. After holding that the doctrine of adverse use would apply to water until 1939, the court divided over the question of whether a Mr. Nicholls had been legally

interrupted in his use of the water. There, as here, Nicholls had been a party to a decree which fixed his rights. But Nicholls nevertheless continued to use the water in violation of the decree, as Jackson did here. The trial court had found from the evidence that there had been an interruption, and, therefore, denied Mr. Nicholls' claims. The Utah Supreme Court reversed. The evidence on which the trial court had found that there was an interruption is detailed by Mr. Justice Larsen, who wrote the prevailing opinion on this point, at page 493 of the Utah Reports. The evidence is also discussed by the minority opinion of Chief Justice Wolfe, commencing at page 454.

The case clearly stands for the proposition that water need not be used continuously throughout the irrigation season in order to support a claim of acquisition by adverse use. It is sufficient if the water is used intermittently as needed. In this regard, the Jacksons testified that they did shut the water off and turn it on as needed. (R. 38, 41) That case also clearly stands for the proposition that it is not a sufficient interruption for the decreed owner merely to shut the water out of one of the ditches of the adversor or to turn it off his field. The interruption must take the water while the adversor claims the right to use it and while he needs it. We believe that the evidence here, as in the Wellsville case, requires the conclusion that the appellants' predecessors used the water as needed to mature their crops of hay on the full 355 acres of land until July 1st of all but unusually dry years, and that the parties then voluntar-

ily shared the water. There is considerable testimony from the respondents on direct examination to the effect that they shut the water off and interrupted the use by Jackson. (R. 75, 105, 156) It is, however, axiomatic that the testimony elicited from them on cross-examination constitutes admissions which are legally binding on them.

We believe that the testimony requires a finding that until about the 1st of July, the Jacksons used the water as needed. After the 1st of July the downstream users needed water more, because the water was turned out of the Woodruff Canal at about this time (R. 193), and thereafter they shared the water.

In regard to the use of water on the Jackson Ranch, we have certain practical considerations which are not in dispute. First, it should be noted that clear back in 1919, when the parties had their lawsuit which resulted in the Call Decree, the trial court then found that Richard Jackson, predecessor of plaintiffs, was irrigating 380 acres of land. The court so found in its Finding of Fact No. 11, where the court stated:

“That said defendant Richard Jackson is the owner of and entitled to irrigate 180 acres of land from the water flowing in the south and middle forks of the said Otter Creek . . . but notwithstanding the said defendant Richard Jackson, without right . . . did wrongfully divert, use and appropriate water from the said Otter Creek . . . in excess . . . of 180 acres of land, to-wit, 380 acres . . .”

Thus, at a date forty years ago the Jackson Ranch was fully developed with a ditch system, etc., so that 380 acres of land could be and was being irrigated.

Secondly, the Call Decree did not completely settle the rights of the parties, because “in addition” to water for 180 acres, Richard Jackson was decreed to own his proportionate share of the return flow, and the court appointed one Joseph F. Neville to make measurements and computations of the volume of seepage and underflow, and thus to ascertain the total quantity of water available of irrigation. (p. 3 of Decree, Civil 43) Neville did not proceed as contemplated by the court, and the measurements of the return flow were never made. (R. 52) It is, therefore, reasonable to believe, as many of the witnesses testified, that Richard Jackson and his successors in interest continued to irrigate the entire farm. We will refer to this testimony in detail below.

Third, in 1946, when the State Engineer’s office made the surveys to use in the General Determination of Water Rights, the Jackson Ranch, which was being irrigated, consisted of 355 acres. The State Engineer’s proposed decree on pages 159-161 awarded to the Jackson Ranch water for 355 acres. The hydrographic survey maps are in evidence, as Ex. B, and Mr. Lambert testified that the actual surveys indicated slightly more than that shown in the proposed determination. (R. 98-9) Also, in 1946, when the State Engineer made the survey, the Jackson meadows had the appearance of having had water applied to them, and they didn’t have the appearance of being newly broken up or newly planted. (R. 100)

Fourth, much of respondents’ lands covered by the Call Decree are also watered from another source — the Woodruff Canal. (R. 98) This is not contraverted and

this fact throws considerable light on the manner in which water would normally have been used from 1919 to date. In 1919, the Call Decree found and adjudged that respondents and their predecessors were irrigating 1,960 acres of land from Otter Creek. (Decree, Civil 43) At the time of the hydrographic survey by the State Engineer, this had been increased to 2,186 acres. (R. 98) Of this acreage, 1,008.44 was located above the Woodruff Canal, and thus had to be watered solely with Otter Creek water. The balance, consisting of 1,178.19 acres, was located below the Woodruff Canal and was irrigated from it. (R. 98) Further, of the 1,008 acres located above the Woodruff Canal, 700 acres belonged to William T. Rex, who watered almost exclusively from the North fork. (R. 80, 123) This water originating in the North fork was not available to the Jackson Ranch (R. 80)

The canal water was usually adequate for the land irrigated from it. In this regard, respondents' witness, Leonard Hellstrom, testified that he was one of the parties in the lawsuit resulting in the Call Decree. (R. 74) He had some canal water for part of his land, but had to use Otter Creek water for the higher ground. (R. 77)

“Q. Did you have all of the canal water you needed, Mr. Hellstrom?

“A. Usually we did pretty well.

“Q. That came out of the Bear River, did it?

“A. That came out of the Bear River. . . .

“Q. The canal water was adequate and you weren't much concerned about Otter Creek water for that ground. Now that's correct, isn't it?

“A. Yes.

“Q. Now that was true of nearly all of the parties that owned water down in that area, wasn't it? They all had canal water for a great deal of their land?

“A. Most of them, I think.

“Q. And that canal water has provided you most years with all the water you needed for the land under the canal?

“A. Yes, what was under the canal.” (R. 78, 79)

The witness was then asked whether there was always plenty of Otter Creek water for the land above the canal, and he answered, “Sometimes there was, and sometimes we'd have to go rustle it.” He was then asked if they used to go up the North fork to get the water, and he answered, “No. Mr. Rex had most of the North fork. He owned about that much or right close.” He was asked whether the 700 acres awarded to Mr. Rex in the 1919 decree came out of the North fork, and he answered, “I think nearly all of it.” He was then asked if the amount not irrigated from the North Fork was about ten acres, and he answered, “Yes, something like that, and the balance was North fork.” (R. 79, 80) Mr. Rex agreed that he looked to the North fork for “most” of his water. (R. 123) and that Rex could not interfere much with the middle and South forks and this is why Rex didn't bother Jackson so much. (R. 128) He also said that he commingled the North fork with the South and middle forks and with the combined stream irrigated only about 60 acres of his 700. (R. 131)

So of the 1,008 acres above the Woodruff Canal 700 was irrigated by Mr. Rex mostly from the North Fork (640 acres totally and the other 60 partially). This left only some 308 acres of land above the Woodruff Canal and below the North fork, which were fully dependent on the middle and South forks for water — other than for the Jackson land.

The Woodruff Canal was shut off about the 1st of July (R. 193), and then the full 2,160 acres (according to the Call Decree, but now increased to 2541 in State Engineers' decree) had to be irrigated from Otter Creek. Otter Creek is a stream which varies only slightly throughout the season and usually would average a combined flow of 13 c.f.s. (R. 177) However because the lands are located along the stream, this water could be diverted and used over and over again and the combined quantity available for diversion and use at all the points of diversion would be considerably greater than this. (R. 220) For example, six c.f.s. placed on the Jackson Ranch might yield as much as 4½ c. f. s. to the stream in return flow. (R. 221) The parties obviously were able to irrigate the 2,140 acres covered by the Call Decree, for, in addition, from 1919 to the time of the State Engineer's survey they had increased their acreage from 1,960, allowed in the Call Decree to 2,186 acres at the time of the survey. (See decree in Civil 43, and acreage noted by State Engineer, R. 98)

We think this is of great importance to an analysis of the testimony of the witnesses. When more than half the land (1178 acres), (R. 98) is receiving a full water

right from the Woodruff Canal, the remaining land which must depend solely on Otter Creek water, has the entire flow of all three forks. Thus, some of the respondents admit that there is usually plenty of water for this land. (R. 81, 195) Since these admissions are from the respondents' own mouths, they probably are bound thereby, but even if not, the truth of this admission is conclusively demonstrated by the fact that they have been able to enlarge their irrigated acreage since the 1919 Call Decree. The Jackson Ranch admittedly is irrigating 355 acres, and the respondents were irrigating 2,186 acres (a total of 2,541 acres) as against only 2,160 allowed by the Call Decree. If the parties were short of water, they obviously would not have enlarged their acreage. Until the Woodruff Canal is turned off about the 1st of July (R. 193) we submit that the uncontradicted evidence concerning the quantity of stream flow and the limited land above the Woodruff Canal, when taken with the testimony from some of the respondents, that there was plenty of water for this land, strongly supports our position that Jackson was using the water for 355 acres until at least July 1st.

A. THE PARTIES USED THE WATER FOR FORTY YEARS WITHOUT ANY SERIOUS TROUBLE FOR THE FULL ACREAGE.

The Call Decree was entered in December of 1919. At that time the respondents were irrigating 1,960 acres, and Jackson was irrigating 380, but was cut back by that decree to 180 — making a total allowed of 2,160 acres. Thereafter Jackson continued to irrigate 355 acres and the respondents increased their acreage to 2,186 — mak-

ing a total of 2,541 (R. 98) Still, during the ensuing forty years, the parties had no further lawsuit. This present litigation does *not* arise out of a lawsuit filed by the parties themselves. The only reason we are now in court is because the State Engineer initiated a general adjudication suit, and the proposed decree caused the parties to file objections.

B. THE UNCONTRADICTED EVIDENCE IS TO THE EFFECT THAT JACKSONS WERE WATERING 355 ACRES FROM 1919 TO DATE.

In this regard we start out with the findings entered in Civil Case No. 43, where the trial court found that in 1919 Richard Jackson was irrigating 380 acres of land. (See Finding No. 8 on page 7 of the Findings) One of the sons of Richard Jackson testified that he examined the land the summer before the trial and that the appellants “weren’t irrigating quite as much (land) as my father did.” (R. 34) Another son Melvin Jackson testified that the land being irrigated now is the same as when his father had the place, except a piece on the north side of the place. (R. 60). One of the respondents also mentioned this slight reduction in acreage and estimated that it would be about 25 to 30 acres. (R. 146) His attention was directed to the fact that the 1919 Findings had determined that Jackson was irrigating 380 acres. He said that he didn’t know how much, but that 25 or 30 acres, “at least,” had been taken out of the irrigation since the 1919 decree, and that if Jackson were irrigating 380 acres in 1919, this would reduce it down to about 355 now. (R. 146)

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