1960

Rich County-Otter Creek Irrigation Co. et al v. Grant Lamborn, Howard L. Lamborn and Keith Jessop : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT HAVING FOUND INTERRUPTIONS AS OF JUNE 1ST RESPON-

DENTS ARE ENTITLED TO A FINDING AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT NO ADVERSE RIGHTS WERE ACQUIRED IRRESPECTIVE OF WHETHER THE USE WAS FOR THE IRRIGATION SEASON OR TO JULY 1ST.

The respondents and appellants agree they are bound by Judge Call's Decree except that since its entry appellants claim they have acquired a right by adverse use to irrigate 355 acres of land to July 1st. They did not claim this limitation before the trial court but on the contrary insisted that the usage extended throughout the irrigation season, as they urged: (1) the Court to approve the State Engineer's proposed decree that would have confirmed their right to irrigate 355 acres for the irrigation season (R 2, Proposed decree 158-159). (2) They attempted to establish that they had used the water during the period 1919 to 1939 in the same manner as they had used it prior to the entry of the decree in 1919 and in those proceedings they claimed the use from April 1st to November 1st. (See counterclaim Richard Jackson Case No. 43) and (3) In their points relied on for this appeal, they assigned as error the trial court's failure to decree their rights to irrigate 355 acres for the irrigation season (p. 35 Case No. 299).

Appellants are now retreating from their position before the trial court, realizing that interrup-

tions whether they are of June 1st or July 1st is effective to interrupt the adverse period, where they claim a use for the irrigation season.

As pointed out the trial court found interruptions in the uses as of June 1st and in this respect appellants agree there is evidence to support the finding.

This Court in *Wellsville East Field Irrigation Co. vs. Lindsay Land and Livestock Co.*, 104 Utah, 48, 137, Pac. 2d, 643, the decision relied on by the appellants, laid down the rule that an interruption during the period of use interrupts the running of the adverse period, and the trial court having found interruptions as of June 1st the respondents are entitled as a matter of law to a finding and decree that the appellants did not acquire any rights by adverse use.

Appellants maintain that the facts in *Wellsville East Field Irrigation Co. vs. Lindsay Land and Livestock Co.*, supra, are similar to this case. This is not so, for in that case there was no interruption during the period of adverse use. Nichols the adversary, used the water approximately two days of each ten days on one tract from June to September, inclusive and on the other tract he watered it four times a season. After irrigating the land he would shut the water off. There was no evidence that an interruption occurred during this limited period of

use. On one occasion when he was seen using the water, he was requested to cooperate and use it sparingly to which he agreed stating he would use it proportionately as did the others and that he would turn it off when he finished irrigating. The Irrigation Company did not interfere with his use. Nichols situation was clearly one of rotation with the other users on a fixed rotation schedule, while here the use of the water by appellants predecessors in interest was continuous. They continuously used approximately 1/12 of the stream during the irrigation season and 11/12 of the stream was continuously used by the respondents as their proportionate share as determined by the Call Decree and when appellants predecessors in interest were using the water in excess of that awarded them this use was also continuous. They merely increased the amount of water over that awarded by the Court. Each year the respondents on several occasions with the knowledge and help of the appellants predecessors in interest during the claimed adverse period recaptured their water.

CONTINUOUS USE

The appellants relied on the testimony of Lem Jackson in claiming intermittent use (R 38-41). However, he did not testify to this but rather that the use was continuous; that they irrigated daily from Otter Creek and that one or more dams were

always in place and that the water was always running in one of their irrigation ditches; that although he was not on the ditches all the time he was irrigating continuously (R 38-41, 48) and their witness Melvin Jackson testified that the dams diverting the water on to appellants property were never out until after haying time (R 61-62).

In attempting to establish adverse use the sons of Richard Jackson testified they used the water from 1919 to 1939 in the same manner as they had used it prior to the entry of the Call decree. In the pleadings in that case Civil No. 43 the appellant Richard Jackson alleged that he had *continuously* used sufficient water from Otter Creek to irrigate 380.22 acres of land during the period April 1st to November 1st of each year. (See paragraph 2 of counterclaim Case No. 43). That appellants claimed the use was continuous before the trial court is apparent from paragraph 2 of their "statement of points relied on appeal" for therein they stated the Court erred in failing to hold that appellants had continuously and adversely used the water of Otter Creek through the irrigation season (Page 35, Case No. 299).

That the use was continuous and not intermittent is, also, supported by the fact that weirs were used for dividing the water at the Jackson ranch and that the Jacksons and respondents divided $1/12$

to the Jacksons and 11/12 to the respondents or their proportionate share of the water (R 106-13, 134, 159-160, 165-169).

INTERRUPTIONS

As a result of Richard Jackson, one of appellants' predecessors in interest, attempt to enlarge his rights in the use of Otter Creek, criminal and civil actions and Judge Call's decree followed. Thereafter, as they had prior to the entry of the decree, the respondents were vigilant in interrupting the Jacksons use of their water. They not only went upstream each year to the Jackson property, recaptured their water, with the Jackson's knowledge, and diverted it downstream; but they employed water masters, engineers and constructed diversion dams to accomplish this purpose.

It was not merely a matter of respondents once a year recapturing their water but it was a continuous operation beginning as some testified in early May and not later than the first of June and continuing thereafter until the middle of July. (R 193, 153-155, 130, 150, 142-143, 123-124, 157).

William T. Rex, who irrigated from all three forks (R 131) testified that one of the respondents in at least every five year period, talked with the Jacksons, at the Jackson property and turned the water down (R 123-125). He said:

Q. And when it got lower, what did you do?

A. Why, somebody would go up and talk to Jackson, get them to let loose a bit and come down.

Q. Then you'd get more water down there?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now was that done, would you say, frequently after 1919 up to 1940?

A. I think so, yes.

Q. About how often?

A. Maybe every week sometime maybe twice a month or something like that somebody would go up.

And Frank Jackson, a respondent, testified that several times each year, between 1919 and 1940, beginning not later than June 1st and extending through the middle of July, one of the respondents would go up to the Jacksons and turn their water down.

A. We'd have to try and locate it, bring some more down.

Q. Now would you say that that happened from the time the decree was entered up until say 1940?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And about how often would you say they'd go up during that period of time?

A. Well, some years it would be quite regular. Probably once or twice a week, maybe more than that. Other times, according to the

amount of water we got down to our diversion, it would be less (R 19-28 page 142).

When you consider the foregoing testimony, it explains and clarifies the witnesses statements the interruptions occurred in May up to and into the middle of July.

As to the date of interruptions, the respondent Mrs. Argyle testified the respondents required their water the first of May of each year (R 192) and that they recaptured it the forepart of May of each year (R 193). She said:

A. Well, they tried to get it around the first of May when Mr. Jackson and Thornock and Hoffman could go up to the divider or splitter, we called it.

Q. And would you say that that happened, that you got the water that early from—how often would you say from 1919 to 1929?

A. Well, it would be the fore part of May always.

Q. The fore part of May always?

A. Yes.

Q. Each year?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you know that of your own knowledge?

A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hoffman who acquired his property in 1922 (R 153) said each year from 1923 through

the 1940's in the spring, someone went upstream and recaptured the respondents water from the Jacksons (R 153-157).

A. Each succeeding year we went up, some of us. Not always the same men, but we went up each year, put in the dams and brought our water down to irrigate our ground with.

and again he said:

Q. And about how often, over what period of years did you have to go up there in order to secure your water?

A. Oh, we went — I went every year from 1923 until on up into the 1940's.

Q. Until the forties?

A. Yes.

and that they divided the water allowing Richard Jackson sufficient water to irrigate 180 acres:

Q. Do you recall in what proportions that the water was divided?

A. It was divided giving Richard Jackson 180 acres.

Q. 180 acres?

A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hellstrom, who sold out to Mr. Hoffman in 1922, testified they went upstream retaking their water between the first of May and the middle of July (R 83). He said:

A. It would be somewhere right between

May and — the first of May and the middle of July, somewhere along in there. That's the time we irrigate.

William Rex testified they went up in May, June and the early part of July for their water (R 130). He said:

Q. Do you know during what period of time that you was short of water and went up to get water, about what time of the year?

A. Well, it would be along in the summertime, along in May or June, the early part of July.

Q. And when it would get short you'd go up and talk to Dick about it, is that right?

A. Yes, sir, that's right.

The respondent Frank Jackson said they went up yearly between 1919 and 1940 and retook their water from the first of June through July (R 142, 150). He said:

A. Well, they went up to try to get more water down.

Q. Now, after they had been up there, did you observe whether or not there was more water came down?

A. Well, most times there was.

Q. There was. Do you recall about what time of the year that would be?

A. Well, it would usually be from the first of June on up through July, into July. Usually fared pretty well up until that time.

Q. And then it was —

A. The water would get short.

Q. And when it would get short —

A. We'd have to try and locate it, bring some more down.

Q. Now would you say that that happened from the time the decree was entered up until say 1940?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And about how often would you say they'd go up during that period of time?

A. Well, some years it would be quite regular. Probably once or twice a week, maybe more than that. Other times, according to the amount of water we got down to our diversion, it would be less. (R 142)

The respondent Mr. Nichols testified that although he could not recall the dates or the years that they went up almost every year and retook their water (R 111-112). He said:

Q. Between 1919 and 1940.

A. Yes, I guess there was. We was up there almost every year, but I just couldn't recall the dates or even the years, because we were up there almost every year. Someone was —

Q. Now, "every year", you're speaking of what period of time?

A. Well, I wasn't there during the years of from the middle of 1920 until I believe it was in either '23 or '24.

Q. But other years you were there?

A. Other years I was there.

Q. Other years you have personally gone up the ditch for your water?

A. That's correct.

Q. On all of those occasions, Mr. Nichols, were you successful in having the water turned down?

A. I was.

Q. And on all of those occasions how was that achieved by you?

A. By getting it turned down?

Q. Yes.

A. Well, I always went and talked to them. I never did tear the dams out alone. I always went and got them and they helped me divide it.

Q. Whom do you speak of as "them"?

A. Well, whoever was on the Jackson place.

Q. Irrigating for the Jacksons?

A. That's right.

The respondents witnesses Nichols, William Rex, Charles Rex, Frank Jackson, and Hoffman testified that when they went upstream to the Jacksons for the purpose of recapturing their water, that they took, often with the Jacksons help, 11/12 of the stream and left 1/12 for the Jacksons use. (R 105-109, 110-115, 125, 129-130, 134, 136-137, 144-147, 149, 156, 161, 164-166, 169-170, 194-196.)

The respondents not only recaptured their water but in so doing appellants predecessors in interest had knowledge that they were doing so. This knowledge was brought home to the Jacksons in several ways: (1) The Jacksons use was interrupted while they were in actual use of the respondents water and the taking of the water would diminish their flow. (2) By the tearing out of dams. (3) They discussed the retaking of their water with Richard Jackson (4) and he and his sons and the respondents and the Jacksons together divided the water 1/12 to the Jacksons and 11/12 to the respondents, their proportionate share of the Creek. (R 105, 109, 110-115, 118-119, 121-125, 129-130, 134-137, 143-145, 147-149, 156-157, 163-164, 169-170, 180, 194-196.)

That the respondents were diligent in protecting their rights is further borne out by the fact that they hired water masters and engineers to reconstruct their weirs and assist in the measurement of the water. The first of these people were hired in 1927 and they consisted of the following: Mr. German and Jesse Read in 1927 (R 157-159), Mr. Schaub in 1930 (R 147-148, 159-160), George D. Clyde in 1933 through 1937 (R 160-161, 182), Mr. Cox followed Gov. Clyde (R 140, 162-163). Also see (R 134, 135, 157, 159, 160, 150, 161-163, 165, 169, 118-119.)

The foregoing evidence overwhelmingly sus-

tains the trial court's findings that timely interruptions occurred during the period claimed. The Court having found timely interruptions, it should be held that appellants had not adversely affected the respondents, in any manner whatsoever, and this is supported by *Wellsville East Field Irrigation Co. vs. Lindsay Land and Livestock Co.*, supra.

In Justice Larson's concurring and dissenting opinion, he said:

"I concur in the opinion, except as to the part thereof holding that the claim of Lindsay Land & Livestock Company must fail as to the water used by Nichols. The opinion holds that Nichols, predecessor in interest of Lindsay Land & Livestock Co. had used these waters adversely, ever since the Kimball Decree, but there had never been a seven-year period without an interruption of the user, and lays down the rule that a mere showing that the water had once been turned out of the ditch of the adverse user tolled the running of the seven-year period. From that holding I emphatically dissent. It is decidedly too broad for conditions prevailing in regard to the uses made of the water under the record in this case. Furthermore, it is not in accord with the authorities.

The rule as stated may be correct where the claimed right involves of necessity a constant, continuous possession and use. But here irrigation water is generally not used continuously on the same lands. Irrigation is a rotating process. The land is watered and then the water is shut off for a period of time;

then turned on for another soaking, and again shut off. The uncontradicted evidence is that Nichols used the water approximately two days each ten days on one tract, from June to September, inclusive, and on the other tract during July, August and September. After irrigating the land he would shut the water off. Much of the time he did not have any water on the land. The witnesses who testified to turning water off from Nichols' ditches testified in most cases they did not see Nichols. Many times they did not even go down to see if the water was being used, or was flowing upon his land. On at least one occasion when they saw Nichols using the water, they asked him to cooperate and use it sparingly because the stream was so small. He answered that he was willing to cooperate and get along with as little proportionately as did the other users, and he would turn it off when he was through. With that they left him to turn it off when he finished his irrigating.

When water is claimed only for limited periods of time, or in limited quantities, or for limited purposes, interruptions in usage must be such as to make an interruption of such right as is claimed; must be such as to molest or interfere with the use to the extent it is claimed or asserted; to the extent of the beneficial use claimed or usable. For example where one claims a right to and usage of water on Monday from 6:00 o'clock a.m. to 12:00 o'clock noon to irrigate an acre of strawberries, shutting off the flow on Tuesday after the patch is watered is not an interference with, or interruption of the use. Of course, when a constant continuous flow is

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